Filed 02-03-2022

FILED 02-03-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2021AP1767-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

STEVEN W. BOWERS,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER SUPPRESSING EVIDENCE AND A DENIAL OF A MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION, ENTERED IN TAYLOR COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ROBERT R. RUSSELL, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

NICHOLAS S. DESANTIS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1101447

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

Taylor County Police Sergeant Steven Bowers, acting without authorization, shared confidential case files with the producers of a television show through Dropbox, an online filesharing service. He uploaded the case files to a Dropbox account that he set up through his official county-owned email address, then granted the producers and his girlfriend access to the Dropbox account. Law enforcements were able to access the contents of the Dropbox without a warrant by changing Bowers' password, as Bowers created the account with his Taylor County email address. Bowers was charged with misconduct in public office.

1. Did Bowers have a reasonable expectation of privacy in his Dropbox account that he set up through his county-owned email address and shared with several other people?

The circuit court answered: "Yes."

This Court should reverse.

2. If law enforcement's examination of Bowers' Dropbox account constituted a search, was the search justified by probable cause and exigent circumstances due to the county's urgent need to figure out who had access to its confidential case files and stop its spread?

The circuit court declined to address this question.

This Court should answer: "Yes."

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication because the briefs should adequately set forth the facts and applicable precedent and because resolution of this appeal requires only the application of well-established precedent to the facts of the case.

INTRODUCTION

The Taylor County Sheriff's Office entered into an agreement with to share the case files from one homicide case—and only that case—with the producers of an investigative television series, "Cold Justice." Police Sergeant Steven Bowers, acting without authorization, shared the files from two other homicide cases. He shared the files from one case through paper copies. He shared the files from the other case by uploading them to a Dropbox account. He used his official Taylor County email address, which was owned by the county, to create the Dropbox account. He then shared access to the account with the producers of Cold Justice, as well as with his girlfriend, who was not a police officer or county employee. County officials accessed the Dropbox account through Bowers' county-owned email address by using the "reset password" function and changing his Dropbox password. Bowers was charged with two counts of misconduct in public office: one for the shared paper filed and one for the shared Dropbox files.

Bowers moved to suppress the information stored on Dropbox, asserting that the county unlawfully searched his Dropbox account. The circuit court initially denied the motion, holding that Bowers had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the Dropbox account. Bowers moved for reconsideration, and this time the circuit court granted his suppression motion on the grounds that he *could* access the Dropbox account through his cell phone—despite no evidence that the phone had anything to do with the Dropbox account. The State moved for reconsideration and the circuit court affirmed its order suppressing evidence for the same reason. The State also argued exigent circumstances due to the urgent need to figure out who had access to the information and stop its spread, but the circuit court chose not to address this argument.

This Court should reverse the circuit court's order suppressing evidence. First, law enforcement did not need a warrant to examine Bowers' Dropbox account because Bowers had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the account, which he set up using county-owned email address and then deliberately allowed several other people to freely access. The examination of the Dropbox account was therefore not a Fourth Amendment search. Second, even if this Court concludes that a search occurred, any search was nevertheless justified by probable cause and exigent circumstances. Law enforcement had an urgent need to figure out who had access to what information and stop it from being disseminated further.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In February 2017, the Taylor County Sheriff's Department worked with the television program "Cold Justice" on a homicide cold case ("Murder 1"). (R. 1:3.) "Murder 1" was the only case for which the department agreed to provide information to "Cold Justice." (R. 1:3.) Steven Bowers, a Detective Sergeant with the Taylor County Sheriff's Department, shared confidential reports on two other homicides, "Murder 2" and "Murder 3," with the producers of Cold Justice. (R. 1:3.) Bowers did not ask anyone for permission to share the reports. (R. 1:3.) Bowers provided paper files for "Murder 2" to the Cold Justice producers.¹ (R. 1:4.) He uploaded the files for "Murder 3" to a Dropbox account, then shared access to the account with his girlfriend and with Cold Justice employees. (R. 1:4.) Police learned about these actions when they heard Cold Justice producers discussing the two cases Bowers had shared with them. (R. 1:3.) Bowers used his official Taylor County Sheriff's Department email address to set up the Dropbox account. (R. 1:4.) Bowers admitted in an email to Sheriff Bruce Daniels on February 27, 2017 that he shared the confidential files without seeking permission, in violation of department policy. (R. 1:5.)

The police department was able to access Bowers' Dropbox account through his county email address. (R. 108:10.) IT director Melissa Lind contacted Dropbox on March 1, 2017 regarding Bowers' suspected sharing of information, but Dropbox was not cooperative. (R. 153:17–18.) Lind did not know exactly what was in the Dropbox account or with whom Bowers had shared it. (R. 153:18.) So, on March 2, Lind performed a password reset at law enforcement's instruction using Bowers' county-owned email address. (R. 153:19.) She clicked Dropbox's "forgot password" link, which sent a password reset email to Bowers' County email address. (R. 153:19.) She then reset the password through the email address and was able to access the Dropbox account. (R. 153:19–20.)

 $^{^1}$ The shared paper files for "Murder 2" are not at issue on this appeal.

Lind's search of the Dropbox account showed that Bowers had indeed shared the case files with people who did not work for the county. (R. 153:21.) Sheriff Daniels sought legal advice from the county's district attorney before they accessed the account. (R. 108:12.)

Bowers was originally charged in October 2017 with one count of misconduct in public office. (R. 1.) In July 2018, however, the charge was amended to two counts on misconduct in public office; one for sharing the paper files for "Murder 2" and one for sharing the Dropbox files for "Murder 3." (R. 25:1.)

Bowers moved to suppress the fruits of the examination of his Dropbox account on the ground that it violated his Fourth Amendment reasonable expectation of privacy. (R. 44:2.) He also argued that his confession to sharing the files was a *Garrity*² violation.³ (R. 44:3.) At the suppression hearing, Taylor County Sheriff Bruce Daniels testified that Bowers had signed an information technology office policy in 2007 that stated, "I have no expectation of privacy for any material on Taylor County equipment, even if that material was generated for my personal use." (R. 108:8.)

The policy signed by Bowers stated, "Taylor County retains exclusive ownership and control of all hardware, software, and the data that is generated through the use of its facilities. "The Information Technology Department reserves the right to monitor all information technology usage and to access any electronic communications at any time." (R. 96:1.) Sheriff Daniels explained that if he had used his official Taylor County email to set up other accounts, he would not

² Garrity v. New Jersey, 385 U.S. 493 (1967).

³ The alleged *Garrity* violation is not at issue on this appeal.

have an expectation of privacy in those other accounts. (R. 108:9–10.)

Sheriff Daniels explained that the department was able to access Bowers' Dropbox account through his county email address using Dropbox's "reset password" function. (R. 108:10.) On cross-examination, Sheriff Daniels stated that Bowers appeared to have set up the Dropbox account on his own and paid for it himself. (R. 108:21.) He also acknowledged that Dropbox is a cloud-based storage service and was not located on the county's servers. (R. 108:22.) Finally, he admitted that while the county email address got them the password to the Dropbox account, they still had to enter the password to access the account. (R. 108:33–34.)

The circuit court denied Bowers' motion to suppress in an oral ruling on February 11, 2020. (R. 107:4.) The circuit court was persuaded by the agreement signed by Bowers that gave the Information Technology department the right to monitor all information technology usage, gave them the right to access any electronic communications, and clarified that Bowers had no reasonable expectation of privacy for any material on Taylor County equipment. (R. 107:3–4.) The circuit court also found that no *Garrity* violation occurred because Bowers was not threatened with loss of employment and made his confession voluntarily. (R. 107:4–6.)

On July 16, 2020, Bowers filed a motion for reconsideration of his suppression motion. (R. 119:1.) He attached a 2011 "policy supplement" related to the use of his county-issued phone.⁴ (R. 119:6.) The supplement clarified that he was permitted to use his county-issued smartphone

 $^{^4}$ Bowers' smartphone was never searched, and there was no evidence that the Dropbox account was somehow tied to the phone. (R. 153:24–25.)

"as [he] would [his] own." (R. 129:1.) He also pointed out that a new information technology policy took effect in 2012 although he admitted there was "no evidence" he "signed any documents related to this policy." (R. 119:6.) He claimed this policy superseded the 2007 policy he signed. (R. 119:6.)

In an oral ruling on December 14, 2020, the circuit court found that due to the 2011 policy supplement that allowed him to use his county-issued smartphone as he would his own, Bowers had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the contents of his county-issued smartphone. (R. 140:9.) The circuit court acknowledged that Bowers *could* access the Dropbox account through his county-issued smartphone. (R. 140:11.) Based on this finding, the circuit court held that Bowers "had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the smartphone and, further, had a reasonable expectation of privacy in a Dropbox account that was used for his personal use and not housed on Taylor County equipment." (R. 140:11.) The circuit court therefore granted Bowers' motion for reconsideration and suppressed the Dropbox evidence. (R. 140:11.)

The State filed a motion to supplement the record and a motion to reconsider the December 14, 2020 oral ruling. (R. 143; 154:1.) The record was supplemented with the testimony of Melissa Lind, the Information Technology director for Taylor County. (R. 153:6, 9.) Lind explained that under the 2012 policy, which was in effect at the time Bowers disclosed the information to Cold Justice, the IT department retained the right to "monitor all information technology usage and access any electronic communications at any time." (R. 127:7; 153:14.) She reiterated that Taylor County owns the county email addresses the employees use. (R. 153:16.) Lind explained that Dropbox is a cloud-based storage center that is accessible through a username and password to any device with an internet connection. (R. 153:16.) Dropbox is tied to an email address, not a physical device. (R. 153:17.)

IT Director Melissa Lind explained that with law enforcement's permission, she searched Bowers' Dropbox account after using the "lost password" function to obtain his password. (R. 153:19–21.) She learned that Bowers had indeed shared the case files with people who did not work for the county. (R. 153:21.) Lind stated that to the best of her knowledge, Bowers' county-issued cell phone was never searched and was not needed to access the Dropbox account. (R. 153:24–25.) On cross-examination, Lind reiterated that the email address alone did not give her access to the Dropbox account; she still needed to use the email address to change the password. (R. 153:27–28.) Finally, she explained that if Bowers had used a personal email rather than a countyowned email to set up the Dropbox account. (R. 153:40.)

The State argued that there was no testimony connecting Bowers' county-issued phone to his Dropbox account, so the ruling—which relied on Bowers' expectation of privacy in the contents of his phone—was in error. (R. 154:2.) The State pointed out that the email address used to set up the Dropbox account is the property of Taylor County, and that other jurisdictions have declined to acknowledge an expectation of privacy in similar situations. (R. 154:3.) Alternatively, the State argued that the search was justified by probable cause and exigent circumstances. (R. 154:5.) The State asserted that law enforcement reasonably feared a delay would risk destruction of evidence. (R. 154:7.) The State also argued that law enforcement had an urgent need to quickly determine what information was shared with whom in order to stop its spread. (R. 157:4.) The circuit court denied the State's motion for reconsideration. (R. 159:12.) The circuit court found that Bowers had a reasonable expectation of privacy in his Dropbox account because "the Court's prior finding and decision with respect to smartphones will certainly apply to the Defendant's personal iPad and personal computer." (R.159:7–8.) The court reasoned that Bowers could have accessed Dropbox through his personal devices, and "[n]o evidence has been presented that any of this information was synced to the Taylor County owned equipment." (R. 159:8.) The circuit court distinguished *Clark*,⁵ a federal district court case with extremely similar facts, on the basis that in the circuit court's view "[n]o evidence has been presented indicating that Mr. Bowers' Dropbox account was in any way connected to his work emails." (R. 159:10.)

Regarding the State's exigent circumstances arguments, the circuit court relied on Lind's testimony that Dropbox archives deleted files for 30 days, (R. 153:22), and found that the fear of destroying evidence therefore did not justify a warrantless search (R. 159:11). The prosecutor then pointed out that the circuit court had only addressed one of the State's two exigency arguments: the other argument was that the State needed to figure out as quickly as possible exactly who had access to sensitive county information and potentially stop the information from spreading further. (R. 159:17–18.) The circuit court refused to address this issue, instead stating, "all I can say, Counsel, is we're out of time." (R. 159:18.)

 $^{^5}$ Clark v. Teamsters Local Union, 349 F. Supp. 3d 605, 621 (E.D. Ky. 2018)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing a decision on a motion to suppress evidence, this Court upholds the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous, but it independently applies constitutional principles to the facts. *State v. Lonkoski*, 2013 WI 30, ¶ 21, 346 Wis. 2d 523, 828 N.W.2d 552.

ARGUMENT

- I. Bowers had no reasonable expectation of privacy in a Dropbox account that he set up using his official county-owned email address and shared with several other people.
 - A. A Fourth Amendment search occurs only if a reasonable expectation of privacy in infringed; a person has no reasonable expectation of privacy in electronic storage shared with third parties

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Art. I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution prohibit unreasonable searches and seizures.⁶ State v. Pinkard, 2010 WI 81, ¶ 13, 327 Wis. 2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592. However, a Fourth Amendment "search" occurs only if "an expectation of privacy that society is prepared to consider reasonable is infringed." State v. Brereton, 2013 WI 17, ¶ 23, 345 Wis. 2d 563, 826 N.W.2d 369 (quoting United States v. Jacobsen, 466 U.S. 109, 113 (1984)).

 $^{^6}$ Wisconsin courts consider state constitutional protections coextensive with the Fourth Amendment. *State v. Houghton*, 2015 WI 79, ¶ 49, 364 Wis. 2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143.

The reasonable expectation of privacy analysis remains the same whether physical or digital property is searched. "[T]he expectation of privacy in digital files ... is governed by the same standards as the expectation of privacy in physical property," and "the reasonableness of an expectation of privacy in digital files shared on electronic platforms is determined by considering the same factors as in any other Fourth Amendment context." *State v. Baric*, 2018 WI App 63, ¶ 19, 384 Wis. 2d 359, 919 N.W.2d 221.

For this reason, this Court uses the same factors articulated in *State v. Dumstrey*, 2016 WI 3, ¶ 47, 366 Wis. 2d 64, 873 N.W.2d 502, to determine whether a defendant's expectation of privacy in electronic files was objectively reasonable. These factors are:

(1) whether the defendant had a property interest in the premises; (2) whether he [or she] was legitimately (lawfully) on the premises; (3) whether he [or she] had complete dominion and control and the right to exclude others; (4) whether he [or she] took precautions customarily taken by those seeking privacy; (5) whether he [or she] put the property to some private use; and (6) whether the claim of privacy is consistent with historical notions of privacy.

Dumstrey, 366 Wis. 2d 64, ¶ 47 (quoting State v. Rewolinski, 159 Wis. 2d 1, 17–18, 464 N.W.2d 401 (1990)). These nonexclusive factors guide this court's analysis, but they are not controlling. Baric, 384 Wis. 2d 359, ¶ 18. "Whether an individual has a reasonable expectation of privacy is determined by examining the totality of the circumstances." State v. Tentoni, 2015 WI App 77, ¶ 36, 365 Wis. 2d 211, 871 N.W.2d 285. Out-of-state case law involving searches of Dropbox and similar electronic storage equipment is helpful in examining whether an expectation of privacy is objectively reasonable. *Clark*, 349 F. Supp. 3d at 621, a wrongful termination case, addressed an employer's search of an employee's Dropbox account. Clark set up a Dropbox account using her work email, which was used to store a mix of personal and professional documents. *Id.* at 622. Her former employer used the "lost password" function to access the Dropbox account through her work email. *Id.* at 621. Clark filed an invasion of privacy⁷ claim against her former employer. *Id.*

The United States District Court for the Eastern District of Kentucky granted Clark's employer summary judgment on the basis that Clark had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the Dropbox account. *Clark*, 349 F. Supp. 3d at 621. The court reasoned that because employees "do not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in their work e-mails, then it logically follows that individuals do not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in a Dropbox account that is tied to their work e-mail and that they lose access to if they lose access to the e-mail." *Id.* 622.

Additionally, under the third-party doctrine, a defendant has "no legitimate expectation of privacy in information he voluntarily turns over to third parties ... even if the information is revealed on the assumption that it will be used only for a limited purpose and the confidence placed in the third party will not be betrayed." United States v. Caira, 833 F.3d 803, 806 (7th Cir. 2016) (quoting Smith v. Maryland, 442 U.S. 735, 743–44 (1979)). And the fact that a person may have limited the shared information to certain

⁷ An invasion of privacy claim under Kentucky law requires the court to determine whether the plaintiff had a "reasonable expectation of privacy," which is analyzed using the same standards that are used under the Fourth Amendment. *See, e.g., Pearce v. Whitenack*, 440 S.W.3d 392, 401–02. (Ky. Ct. App. 2014.)

people does not mean he has any legitimate expectation of privacy with the world at large. *Caira*, 833 F.3d at 806. This rule does not change when the defendant has deliberately shared information with others via an electronic service such as Dropbox rather than in person.

In United States v. Maclin, 393 F. Supp. 3d 701, 706 (N.D. Ohio 2019), for example, a child pornography defendant stored images on a personal Dropbox account that showed the sexual exploitation of minors. The account was password-protected and was connected to a personal email account. *Id.* at 711. However, the defendant deliberately shared access to the Dropbox account with other people. *Id.*

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