**FILED**  
**05-17-2022**  
**CLERK OF WISCONSIN**  
**COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DISTRICT III  
CASE NO. 2021AP001767

---

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

*Plaintiff-Appellant,*

v.

STEVEN W. BOWERS,

*Defendant-Respondent,*

---

APPEAL FROM A DENIAL OF A MOTION FOR  
RECONSIDERATION, ENTERED IN TAYLOR COUNTY CIRCUIT  
COURT, THE HONORABLE ROBERT R. RUSSELL, PRESIDING

---

**DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE BRIEF**

---

R. Rick Resch  
Wisconsin Bar No. 1117722  
John H. Bradley  
Wisconsin Bar No. 1053124

Strang Bradley, LLC  
613 Williamson St., Suite 204  
Madison, Wisconsin 53703  
[608] 535-1550

Attorneys for Defendant-Respondent



##

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

## ARGUMENT

**I. The warrantless search of Bowers's Dropbox was unreasonable because Bowers had a reasonable expectation of privacy in it and there were no exigent circumstances.**

Bowers, like millions of Americans, has an expectation of privacy in his personal Dropbox account. He created the account. He paid for it. He protected it with a password. And there were no exigent circumstances justifying a warrantless search. Indeed, the sheriff's department waited two days to search the Dropbox.

The State here cannot meet its burden to show that the circuit court abused its discretion when it found that Bowers had an expectation of privacy in his Dropbox account and that the sheriff's department had time to obtain a warrant but didn't.

Bowers had a reasonable expectation of privacy in his Dropbox. A Dropbox is the digital era equivalent of a storage unit. Both may be operated by a third party. Both allow the lessee to hold items for friends without losing control of the unit. A storage unit is protected by a key. And a Dropbox is protected by a password. Traditional notions of privacy, by way of analogy, show that the Fourth Amendment protects a Dropbox account the way the Fourth Amendment protects a storage unit. *See United States v. Johnson*, 584 F.3d 995, 1001 (10th Cir. 2009) (collecting cases in which courts find that storage units have Fourth Amendment protection).

The remainder of this brief, after discussing the standards of review and legal standards, proceeds as this.

First, millions of Americans use cloud storage, and they expect their files and effects to remain private, especially when their accounts are password protected. *See Steven Arango, Cloudy with a Chance of Government Intrusion: the Third-Party Doctrine in the 21st Century*, 69 Cath. U.L. Rev. 723, 725 (2020) and Eric Johnson, *Lost in the Cloud: Cloud Storage, Privacy, and Suggestions for Protecting Users' Data*, 69 Stan. L. Rev. 867, 871-72, 885-86 (2017).

Second, the third-party doctrine does not apply here because the sheriff's department did receive documents from a third party, did not obtain business records created by a third party, and did not access mere metadata. *United States v. Miller*, 425 U.S. 435, 440 (1976); *Smith v. Maryland*, 442 U.S. 735, 743 (1979). These nuances were reiterated in *Carpenter*, 138 S.Ct. 2206 (2018). And the Court in *Riley* explicitly sought to protect the privacy of cloud-stored data. 573 U.S. at 397.

Third, the State's non-precedential cases do not support its conclusion. *Koepsell's*, 275 Wis. 2d 397, ¶6. *Clark*, cited by the State, is not a Fourth Amendment case. *Caira* involved the disclosure of metadata by a third party. And the defendant in *Maclin* gave others access to his entire Dropbox account, while refusing to acknowledge that the account even belonged to him.

Fourth, Wisconsin's expectation of privacy factors show that Bowers's Dropbox was protected by the Fourth Amendment. See *State v. Baric*, 2018 WI App 63, ¶18, 384 Wis. 2d 539, 919 N.W.2d 221. Bowers setup up and paid for his Dropbox; he maintained his account lawfully; he kept his account private with a password; he used his Dropbox to store private information; and historical notions of privacy establish that his expectation of privacy was reasonable.

Finally, there were no exigent circumstances here. The sheriff's department had two days to obtain a warrant and it didn't. And the State, still, has identified no cases establishing that a risk of leaked confidential information can create an exigency.

#### **A. Standard of review**

##### **1. Motions to reconsider are subject to review under the erroneous discretion standard.**

A motion for reconsideration is reviewed under the erroneous exercise of discretion standard. *Koepsell's*, 275 Wis. 2d 397, ¶6. Under that standard, a discretionary decision is affirmed "as long as the court examined the relevant facts, applies a proper standard of law, and used a demonstrated rational process to reach a reasonable conclusion." *Lakeland Area Prop. Owners Ass'n, U.A. v. Oneida Cnty.*,

2021 WI App 19, ¶14, 396 Wis. 2d 622, 957 N.W.2d 605; *State v. Kennedy*, 2008 WI App 186, ¶21, 315 Wis. 2d 507, 762 N.W.2d 412.

The State is appealing a motion to reconsider here. Appeals are taken from orders reduced to writing. *Helmrick v. Helmrick*, 95 Wis. 2d 554, 556, 291 N.W.2d 582 (Ct. App. 1980). The State here appeals from a written order entered on 14 September 2022, in which the circuit court denied the State's motion to reconsider. R. 163 and 164. That order specifically said, in total, "For the reasons stated on the record at the July 15, 2021 Oral Ruling, the State's Motion to Reconsider is Denied. This is a final order for purposes of appeal." R. 163 (emphasis and paragraph break removed). That is the order on appeal in this case. Although the order may have had the "substantive effect" of "suppressing evidence," it is nevertheless an order denying a motion to reconsider. *See* Wis. Stat. § 974.05(1)(d).

## **B. Applicable legal standards**

### **1. A successful motion to reconsider requires a manifest error of fact or law.**

To prevail on its motion to reconsider, the State was required to "present either newly discovered evidence or establish a manifest error of law or fact." *Koepsell's*, 275 Wis. 2d 397, ¶44. A "manifest error" is the "'wholesale disregard, misapplication, or failure to recognize controlling precedent.'" *Id.* (quoting *Oto v. Metro. Life Ins. Co.*, 224 F.3d 601, 606 (7th Cir. 2000)).

The State presented new testimony in support of its motion to reconsider. R. 159. But it never explained how the IT Director's knowledge was newly discovered. Moreover, even if it was newly found information, it didn't show a manifest error of fact. *Koepsell's*, 275 Wis. 2d 397, ¶44. Indeed, the testimony further solidified that Bowers was the owner of his Dropbox account.

Nor did the State establish that the circuit court had made a manifest error of law. *Id.* As the federal district court found in the civil case in which Bowers sued Taylor County and its official for an unlawful search, there is a dearth of caselaw on whether a person has an expectation of privacy in cloud-stored data. *See Bowers v. Cnty. of Taylor*, No. 20-CV-928-JDP, 2022 WL 1121376, at \*9 (W.D. Wis. Apr.

14, 2022). The district court concluded that Sheriff Daniels and the IT Director violated Bowers's Fourth Amendment rights, but those rights weren't clearly established. *Id.* at \*1. And so the district court granted the Taylor County defendants qualified immunity. *Id.* Thus, caselaw pointed toward Fourth Amendment protection, and no controlling precedent required a conclusion to the contrary.

## 2. A reasonable expectation of privacy

A person has standing to challenge a search or seizure when he has a reasonable (sometimes termed legitimate) expectation of privacy in the place searched. *Rakas v. Illinois*, 439 U.S. 128, 139 (1978); *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 360 (1967) (Harlan, J., concurring). Fourth Amendment standing is different from other types of "standing" in the law; it is part of the substantive law of the Fourth Amendment. *Rakas*, 439 U.S. at 138–39. Sometimes whether someone has Fourth Amendment standing is analyzed in terms of whether or not something is a "search." *See e.g., Riley*, 573 U.S. at 400 ("There is no dispute that the officers engaged in a search of Wurie's cell phone.").

All of these terms get at the same thing. If a person has a legitimate expectation of privacy in an area, it is protected by the Fourth Amendment. *United States v. Jones*, 565 U.S. 400, 405–06 (2012)

There are, at least, two tests to determine whether someone has Fourth Amendment standing, one under trespass rules and one under *Katz*. *Jones*, 565 U.S. at 409 ("[T]he *Katz* reasonable-expectation-of-privacy test has been *added to*, not *substituted for*, the common-law trespassory test.") (emphasis in original); accord *State v. Dumstrey*, 2016 WI 3, ¶28, 366 Wis. 2d 64, 873 N.W.2d 502; *see Florida v. Jardines*, 569 U.S. 1, 11 (2014) (Because the Court found Fourth Amendment standing under trespass rules, it did not need to decide whether there was also standing under *Katz*).

The same Fourth Amendment rules apply to digital spaces as other spaces. *Baric*, 384 Wis. 2d 359, ¶19.

To determine whether someone has Fourth Amendment standing, courts look to the totality of the circumstances. *Id.*, 18. Some non-exhaustive factors include (1) whether a person had a property interest, (2) whether he was lawfully on the property, (3) whether he

had control over the property, (4) whether he took precautions to ensure his privacy, (5) whether property was put to private use, and (6) whether the claim of privacy is consistent with historical notions of property. *Id.* Courts also consider more normative factors, including societal expectations. *Minnesota v. Olson*, 495 U.S. 91, 98 (1990) (“To hold that an overnight guest has a legitimate expectation of privacy in his host's home merely recognizes the everyday expectations of privacy that we all share. Staying overnight in another's home is a longstanding social custom that serves functions recognized as valuable by society.”).<sup>4</sup>

### **3. The State carries the burden to prove exigent circumstances.**

And if an area is protected by the Fourth Amendment, law enforcement presumably needs a warrant to search it. *Arizona v. Gant*, 556 U.S. 332, 338 (2009). That presumption is “subject only to a few specifically established and well-delineated exceptions.” *Id.* The only exception raised here is the exigent circumstances exception. *See* Appellant’s Br. at 20–23.<sup>5</sup>

The exigent circumstances exception requires urgency. Here, the State must prove that the sheriff’s department had an urgent need to search Bowers’s Dropbox, that the department had probable cause to believe the Dropbox contained evidence of a crime, and that there was not enough time for the department to obtain a warrant. *State v. Robinson*, 2010 WI 80, ¶24, 327 Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463.

Law enforcement’s fear of destroyed evidence can be an exigency, but the fear must be of “imminent” destruction. *King*, 563 U.S. at 460.

---

<sup>4</sup> The differing Fourth Amendment tests for standing have caused confusion in the legal field. *See* Orin S. Kerr, *Four Models of Fourth Amendment Protection*, 60 Stan. L. Rev. 503, 505 (2007).

<sup>5</sup> In the federal civil case, the district court concluded that the government employer exception to the warrant requirement didn’t apply, but also that that conclusion wasn’t clearly established. *Bowers*, 2022 WL 1121376 at \*10–\*12; *see O’Connor*, 480 U.S. at 724 (discussing the government employer exception). The civil defendants did not argue that exigent circumstances justified the search.

**C. Bowers had a reasonable expectation of privacy in his Dropbox account.**

It's important to consider the different types of government actions that might have been searches and seizures here. First, the sheriff's department searched Bowers's Taylor County email account. Second, they used a password recovery to seize his Dropbox password. Third, they used the new password to seize his Dropbox account. And fourth, they used the new password to search Bowers's Dropbox account.

Consider also the different searches and seizures the sheriff's department *could have* done but did not. First, they could've obtained information from Bowers's Dropbox directly from Dropbox with a subpoena or warrant. Second, they could've obtained access to the files shared by Bowers directly from the *Cold Justice* crew members who had access to them. And third, they could have searched Bowers's physical devices (his work computers and phone) to determine whether any of the Dropbox files were synced locally and not only on Dropbox servers. They did not choose any of these options.

Also note what the State is not arguing here anymore. It is not arguing that the Taylor County IT Policy allowed the sheriff's department to take over and search Bowers's Dropbox, and it is not arguing that the sheriff's department searched any locally stored information. *See* Br. of Appellant at 14-20. This is wise decision. The circuit court made a factual finding that the Dropbox was not located on Taylor County property and that no Taylor County property was searched. R. 159 at 07:14-08:04. This factual finding was not a manifest error. *Koepsell's*, 275 Wis. 2d 397, ¶44. It was consistent with the IT Director's testimony. R. 153 at 36:21-25.

What Bowers challenged was the search of his entire Dropbox account—not single files held by multiple people. This distinction is important. The third-party doctrine is not a simple rule, as we shall see. Bowers may not have had standing to challenge the sheriff's department search if it had obtained metadata, if it had obtained information created by third party, or if it had obtained information from a third party. But that's not what happened.



Bowers here never shared his password with anyone; the sheriff's department cancelled his password and created a new one. R. 153 at 18:24–20:08, 22:12–22. And the sheriff's department took over and searched Bowers's account; it did not receive records or information consensually (or by subpoena or warrant) from third parties. *See id.*

Bowers had a legitimate expectation of privacy in his Dropbox account. Millions of Americans also expect their cloud-stored documents, files, and photographs to be private. This is especially so when the account is password protected.

**1. Society expects privacy in password protected cloud storage accounts.**

Whether a person has a legitimate expectation of privacy in searched or seized property, depends upon societal expectations. *Olson*, 495 U.S. at 98. Americans expect their cloud storage accounts to remain private, even if the information is stored on a third-party server and even if they occasionally share files from their accounts with other people. The State argues that the third-party doctrine and sharing files destroys a person's expectation of privacy in cloud storage accounts. Br. of Appellant at 14–19. Not so. The State's analysis fails to fully analyze the third-party doctrine and fails to consider the expectations of millions of cloud-storage using Americans.

"Cloud computing is the capacity of Internet-connected devices to display data stored on remote servers rather than on the device itself." *Riley*, 573 U.S. at 397. "The term 'cloud computing' is based on the industry usage of a cloud as a metaphor for the ethereal internet. An external cloud platform is storage or software access that is essentially rented from (or outsourced to) a remote public cloud service provider, such as Amazon or Google." *United States v. Cotterman*, 709 F.3d 952, 965, n.12 (9th Cir. 2013) (alterations removed) (quoting David A. Couillard, *Defogging the Cloud: Applying Fourth Amendment Principles to Evolving Privacy Expectations in Cloud Computing*, 93 Minn. L.Rev. 2205, 2216 (2009)).

Upwards of 80% of Americans own a smartphone. Steven Arango, *Cloudy with a Chance of Government Intrusion: the Third-Party Doctrine in the 21st Century*, 69 Cath. U.L. Rev. 723, 725 (2020). Dropbox and

Google Drive, just two of the most prominent cloud storage companies, combined have 1.5 billion users world-wide. *Id.*

A cloud storage account, like Dropbox, is a 21st century container used to hold private papers and effects. *See* U.S. Const. Amend. IV. Many Americans hold deeply private information in cloud storage, ranging from important documents to family photographs, to banking information. And they “often may not know whether particular information is stored on [their] device or in the cloud, and it generally makes little difference.” *Riley*, 573 U.S. at 397.

And a person’s expectation of privacy is heightened when he hides private information behind a password, as Bowers did here. *See Antonelli v. Sherrow*, 246 Fed. App’x 381, 384 (7th Cir. 2007); *see United States v. Buckner*, 473 F.3d 551, 554 n.2 (4th Cir. 2007) (recognizing a reasonable expectation of privacy in password-protected computer files); *see Trulock v. Freeh*, 275 F.3d 391, 403 (4th Cir. 2001) (Plaintiff had a reasonable expectation of privacy in his password-protected computer files); *Scherer Design Grp., LLC v. Ahead Eng’g LLC*, 764 F. App’x 147, 156 (3d Cir. 2019) (private tort, but collecting constitutional cases) (“A cursory review of our sister circuits shows that the mere use of a password to protect an account or files generally conveys a clear intent to prevent others’ access. This preserves a user’s reasonable expectation of privacy as to the bypassing intruder.”).

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